Notes on the History and a Chilvers Coton Timeline –

By Peter Lee
“Today significant changes are taking place in this literary parish. Many of the residents are real old Warwickshire types, both in regard to a peculiar idiom of speech, and old fashioned sayings and custom. Although the heart of Coton is only a mile away from the centre of Nuneaton, Coton folk seem a people apart from the rest of Nuneaton”

Warwick Stubbs, c.1939
___________________________________________________
Chilvers Coton parish was a small scattered community one and a quarter miles south west of Nuneaton in the Hundred of Hemlingford. The village centred on Bridge Street, and was divided into four ends – Church End, where the parish church of “All Saints” is situated, Virgins End on the junction of  Coventry Road and College Street where a shrine to the Virgin Mary was once located. Heath End which was where the road we know today as Heath End Lane passed across a Heath land area an extension of Nuneaton Common, Town End as the parish border was almost in the centre of Nuneaton town which was a separate parish. There was once another “End” – Sheeps Foot End” but this was said to be a mile along Coton Road just before you get to where Edward Street joins the roadway but it could hardly be said to be an “End” as it just seems to be at the milepost along the road.

Old Chilvers Coton public houses:

The Boot, an ancient canalside pub, rebuilt in 1939. Extant but untenanted.

The Fleur De Lys, still extant, once an ancient thatched tavern, now rebuilt and still open.

The Griffin at Griff – still extant, said to be one of Nuneaton’s most haunted pubs.

The Hare & Hounds, Heath End. Extant.

The Jolly Colliers. Opened from the proceeds of a prize fight fought by John Mallabone, a miner. It is mentioned in George Eliot’s “Scenes of Clerical Life”.  His family retained the pub into the 1930’s. It was pulled down to build the new by pass. 

The King William IV. On Coton Road opened in 1830 as a beer house. Still there but untenanted.

The Newdigate Arms (or the Bloody Hand). This once stood in Griff Hollows and ceased being tenanted as a public house about the middle of the 19th century. The building itself was demolished in the 1970’s.

The Rose Inn, still extant.

The Horseshoes., still extant and lovingly renovated. 

The Wharf Inn, A canalside inn which belonged to the Arbury Estate. Demolished in the 1980’s. There was a boat shed and warehouse for storing goods trans-shipped from the canal. The Wharf Inn is mentioned in George Eliot’s “Scenes of Clerical Life”.
Old Chilvers Coton Street Names: (1781 census)

Church End (now Avenue Road)

Turnpike Road (now Coventry Road)

Wash Lane which shared a border with Nuneaton Parish at the Town End. (Now Queens Road)

Chaplins Gate

Market Street (possibly Bridge Street)

Bishop Street

Sea Lane (probably Heath End Road)

Woodlands (between Coton & Griff)

Sinneyfield 

Old businesses:

The Chilvers Coton Foundry. Manufacturers of the myriad metal requirements for the local coal and brickmaking business, as well as gutters, pipes, gratings, cast iron ranges, boilers and iron fittings for domestic use.

 1086 Domesday, Chilvers Coton held by Harold, son of Earl Ralf. (who had held the manor before him) to an extent of 8 hides. John the son of Harold took the name Sudeley from his estates in Gloucestershire. John’s son Ralf established the Priory at Arbury. 

1185 The Templars are recorded as holding land at Chilvers Coton

1267  The rights of free warren granted to Bartholomew Sudeley for this lordship.

1299 Bartholomew Sudeley’s son John created a Baron.

1367  The manor passed to the heir of John Sudeley, Thomas and Margery Boteler, son and daughter of John’s sister Joan.   
1380 Chilvers Coton devolved to Thomas Boteler.

1473 The manor had passed to Ralph Boteler, who died without issue and manor passed to his nephew Sir John Norbury.

1536   The Priory of Erdbury was dissolved by the decree of King Henry VIII

Land passed to Charles Brandon, Duke of Suffolk (30HVIII)

Land passed to Margery, the wife of John Kersey, one of the Co-Heirs of the Duke of Suffolk and was sold to Sir Edmund Anderson. Chief Justice of the Common Pleas who entirely rebuilt the old property. The Elizabethan house he built is encapsulated within the Gothic mansion you see today.

1539 Chilvers Coton had passed to Sir Edmund Bray and his wife Jane, granddaughter of Sir John Norbury.

1541 Chilvers Coton Post Wind Mill built at a location known as “Windmill Hill”. In 1556 it was the property of Edward Carminge.
1558 The manor passed to Thomas Lyfield and his wife Frances who was one of the six co-heirs of Jane Bray.

1561 The manor was sold to John & Joyce Gifford 
1586   John Newdegate (1541-1594) exchanged his property of Harefield with Sir Edmund Anderson of Arbury  and the Newdegate family took up residence at Arbury. He married Martha Cave (1546-1575). His heir was Sir John Newdigate (1571-1610) who married Anne Fitton (1574-1618) maid of honour to Queen Elizabeth I. (hence Fitton Street)
1602 Sir Richard Newdigate, 1st Baronet (1602-1678) born. He married Juliana Leigh (?-1685). He was a judge under.

1618 A second windmill was put into sail. It was post mill.
1644 Sir Richard Newdigate, 2nd Baronet  born. Married Mary Bagot (1646-1692) (1st wife)

1668 Sir Richard Newdigate, 3rd Baronet born. Married Elizabeth Twisden (1681-1765) (2nd wife)  

1674  The entrance port to Arbury Hall stables was designed by Sir Christopher Wren.

1675 A third Chilvers Coton windmill erected. Also a post mill. This was replaced in 1710 by another mill which was out of use by the middle of the 19th century.
1678 A family chapel was completed by Sir Richard Newdigate (2nd. Baronet) 

1684 Thomas Hewitt prepared a map of Chilvers Coton for Sir Richard Newdigate
1686 Henry Beighton (1686-1743) born. He was a prominent Cartographer, Scientist, Member of the Royal Society, Editor of The Lady’s Diary, Meteorologist and developed the modern method of recording the weather. He lived at Berresteads on the Coventry Road in Griff Hollows.
1717 Sir Edward Newdigate (1717-1734) born. 4th. Baronet. He died unmarried. 

1719 Sir Roger Newdigate (1719-1806)  was born. He married Sophia Conyers (1718-1774). With his death Baronetcy became extinct.
1719 An independent chapel was erected

1730 About 140 families lived in Chilvers Coton.

1762 The beautiful barrel vaulted drawing room at Arbury was designed by Henry Keene.
1764 An act of enclosure was enacted for the fields of Chilvers Coton.

1776 The Newcomen engine at Griff consumed 56 tons of coal per week.

1800 Nuneaton Union Workhouse erected near the Bull Ring. It was erected entirely at the expense of Sir Roger Newdigate using French Napoleonic Prisoners of War captured at the Battle of the Nile. It had 14 inch thick walls.
1804 Wesleyan chapel erected in Coton Road.

1806 The Arbury estate passed to Sir Roger Newdigate’s cousin – Francis Parker who assumed the names and arms of Newdigate.

1809 New brick built windmill erected. This was later powered by steam.
1819 Mary Ann Evans (1819-1880) who was to become the famous Victorian novelist – George Eliot- was born at South Farm, Arbury. Her family moved to Griff House later that year. 

1821 Census Population: 2169 

1825 A steam mill built at Chilvers Coton.

1831 Census Population: 2494

1834 The workhouse was extended.

1835 Arbury passed to The Rt. Hon. Charles Newdigate-Newdegate M.P. (   -1887) He never married. 

1837  The north side of Coton Church was entirely rebuilt.

1838 First Roman Catholic chapel erected.

1841 Census Population: 2359 

1841 George Eliot left Griff House to live in Coventry. 

1849 A school masters house was erected to serve Chilvers Coton Free School

1850 The Nuneaton-Coventry railway line was opened. A station was opened at Chilvers Coton. It was unusual in not having any goods facilities. All goods distribution was handled from Nuneaton station which was only a mile and a half away. The station was 97¾ miles from London.

1850 All Saints parish church had 858 sittings. And a peal of three bells.

1861 Census population: 2764

1862 Sir Francis Newdigate-Newdegate (1862-1936) was born. He became M.P. for Nuneaton and Tamworth 1909-1917. Governor of Tasmania (1917-1920). Governor of Western Australia (1920-1924).
1871 Census Population: 2656 

1874 Area covered by Chilvers Coton said to be: 4145 acres 2 roods 15 perches.

1887 Arbury passed to Lt. Gen. Sir Edward Newdigate-Newdegate (Governor & Commander in Chief of Bermuda 1888-1892)

1890 The chancel of Chilvers Coton church was rebuilt. Reopening of the church took place on 2nd January 1890

1891 Chilvers Coton church restoration completed (April 31st.)

1900  Griff Nr. 5 colliery closed, open during the Battle of Metz, hence it was better known as “Metz” pit.
1902  The manufacture of the “George Eliot” motorcycle commenced in the parish of Chilvers Coton by John North Birch.

The King William 4th pub in Coton Road was entirely rebuilt by George Henry and Walter Taylor.

1904 John North Birch rode a “George Eliot” motorbike from Lands End to John O’Groats. Mr. Birch emigrated to New Zealand in 1905 and never returned to England. He built the first motor car in New Zealand.

1906  A new infirmary and laundry opened at the Nuneaton workhouse in Chilvers Coton.

1907 Chilvers Coton churchgoers visited Taylor’s Bell Foundry in Loughborough to witness the casting of a new peal of bells for Coton church.

1908 A tenor bell was erected in Chilvers Coton church as a memorial to George Eliot.
1915 Courtaulds purchased land at Chilvers Coton (in what was to become Marlborough Road) to build a new factory. Very little, if any work was done due to World War One, and lack of labour.

1919 Midland Sheet Metal Works was established in the old foundry at the Bull Ring Chilvers Coton. This company went on to make body panels for the car industry in Coventry including the Daimler Car Co. and specials like the bodywork for the Bluebird record breaking car.

1920 Work started in earnest on Courtaulds factory in Marlborough Road.

1936 The old vicarage in Chilvers Coton was demolished and a new one erected.

1936 A new catholic church was erected in Coton Road and the old one demolished.
1936 Arbury passed to The Hon. L.C.S. Fitzroy Newdigate (1896- ?). She married John Maurice Fitzroy (1897-  ) He assumed the name Newdegate.

1941 In the Morning of 17th May 1941 a string of incendiary bombs fell on the roof of Chilvers Coton church. They slowly set light to the roof. Shortly afterwards a high explosive bomb in the churchyard brought down the walls and the burning roof and it remained a burnt out and derelict shell for three years. 110 people were killed in Nuneaton, 170 injured. By the end of the war of 13,644 houses in the Nuneaton area, 10,485 were damaged and 380 were totally destroyed.
1941 The 1st Batallion Cambridgeshire Regiment was stationed at Arbury Hall. 343 of these men lost their lives fighting the Japanese in the Far East.
1944 The remains of Chilvers Coton church was cleared and the ruins tidied up. This was carried out by six German PoW vuolunteers from Arbury camp. The church clock was repaired by a local watchmaker.

1946 Coton Hall (Better known as Caldwell Hall) was demolished.

1947  Rebuilding of Chilvers Coton church was completed at a cost of £40,000. It was not possible to reconstruct the old church as it was prior to the bombing due to modern building regulations. The architect was H.N.Jepson A.R.I.B.A. The work was undertaken by German PoW’s at Arbury camp.  

£5000 was raised in the Nuneaton area

100 guineas was raised in Bedworth

£20,000 came from the War Damage Compensation Board

The German labour was paid at the standard rate for British workmen.

On 25th September 1947 there was a talk by the BBC World Service between 6.10pm-6.20pm by R.G.Lloyd Thomas on the restoration of Chilvers Coton Church. 

1950 Arbury passed to Humphrey Fitzroy Newdigate (1921-   ). Who married the Hon. Rosemary Norrie (1926-   ) 

1952  The Intalok Co. Ltd moved to a new factory in Caldwell Road. Coton.
1956  Red Deeps Special School opened.

.

